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INTRODUCTION 

 In the middle of the country, just a short drive from the capital of Iowa, lie the Outlets of 

Des Moines. There, Michael Kors maintains just one of its nearly 250 nationwide stores, within 

hundreds of feet of Coach and Kate Spade. The setting is the same in countless other 

communities across the country, from coast to coast, and in almost every state: at the Gulfport 

Premium Outlets in Gulfport, Mississippi; at the Macy’s in Okemos, Michigan; at the Woodburn 

Premium Outlets forty minutes south of Portland, Oregon; at the University Mall in Mishawaka, 

Indiana, where Coach and Michael Kors have flagship stores within steps of each other; and at 

the famous Macy’s in Herald Square in midtown Manhattan. These are three quintessential 

American fashion brands fiercely competing head-to-head to be purchased and worn by tens of 

millions of everyday Americans, especially women. 

And compete they do—on price, on discounts and promotions, on design, on shopping 

experiences, on sustainability efforts, and even for retail employees—across a wide variety of 

products. But where Coach, Michael Kors, and Kate Spade most fiercely compete is in the sale 

of handbags, an item that is ubiquitous for half the population, who use handbags to carry 

phones, wallets, and keys, but also personal items like hygiene products and make-up. The 

numbers tell the story: Coach, Michael Kors, and Kate Spade combined boasted nearly  

in sales of handbags in the United States alone in 2023.1 And while other brands have come and 

gone, these three iconic American brands have withstood the test of time, duking it out in places 

like the Outlets of Des Moines in Altoona, Iowa. 

Congress enacted the antitrust laws, including Section 7 of the Clayton Act, to protect 

this very sort of competition. That is why, following the announcement that Tapestry, Inc. 

 
1 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) ¶ 186, tbl 7. 
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(“Tapestry”)—owner of the Coach and Kate Spade brands—intended to purchase Capri 

Holdings Limited (“Capri”)—owner of the Michael Kors brand (among others)—for a 

staggering $8.5 billion (the “Proposed Acquisition”), the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) 

opened an investigation, and ultimately elected, by a bipartisan vote of 5-0, to initiate an 

administrative proceeding to adjudicate the legality of that transaction. The merits trial in that 

proceeding begins September 25, 2024, where the parties will have up to 210 hours to present 

evidence on whether the Proposed Acquisition may substantially lessen competition in violation 

of Section 7 of the Clayton Act. 16 C.F.R. § 3.41(b). 

In this federal court proceeding, however, the inquiry is “limited and narrow.” FTC v. 

IQVIA Holdings Inc., 23 Civ. 06188 (ER), 2024 WL 81232, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 8, 2024). This 

Court must determine whether, “weighing the equities and considering the Commission’s 

likelihood of ultimate success,” the FTC is entitled to a preliminary injunction to preserve the 

status quo until the FTC has had the opportunity to adjudicate the Proposed Acquisition’s 

legality in its administrative proceeding. Id. at *7–9 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 53(b)). The FTC 

satisfies this burden if it “raise[s] serious questions about the antitrust merits that warrant 

thorough investigation in the first instance by the FTC.” Id. Here, the FTC does so on two 

independent theories of anticompetitive harm: First, the Proposed Acquisition will lead to undue 

concentration in the market for “accessible luxury” handbags in the United States. Second, it will 

eliminate fierce head-to-head competition between the merging parties. The FTC thus 

respectfully asks this Court to preliminarily enjoin consummation of the Proposed Acquisition. 

BACKGROUND 

On August 10, 2023, Tapestry announced its intention to purchase Capri for $8.5 billion,2 

 
2 PX7055 (Investor Call, Aug. 10, 2023) at 004. 
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Premium Fashion Powerhouse.”26 Indeed, in a playbook just following the Kate Spade 

acquisition, Tapestry 27 

ARGUMENT 

Section 7 of the Clayton Act prohibits transactions the effect of which “may be 

substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly.” 15 U.S.C. § 18. The 

Commission therefore voted 5-0 to commence an administrative proceeding to adjudicate the 

legality of the Proposed Acquisition. This proceeding is well under way—and a merits hearing is 

scheduled to begin on September 25, 2024. The FTC seeks from this Court only a preliminary 

injunction to preserve the status quo until that proceeding has run its course to preserve the 

Commission’s ability to order effective relief and enforce the antitrust laws. 

Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), “authorizes the Commission to obtain a 

preliminary injunction ‘[u]pon a proper showing that, weighing the equities and considering the 

Commission’s likelihood of ultimate success, such action would be in the public interest.’” FTC 

v. Crescent Pub. Group, Inc., 129 F. Supp. 2d 311, 319 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (quoting 15 U.S.C. 

§ 53(b)). Unlike a private litigant seeking a preliminary injunction, the FTC does not have to 

show irreparable harm. FTC v. IQVIA Holdings, Inc., No. 23 CIV. 06188, 2023 WL 7152577, at 

*5 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 31, 2023); see also Crescent Pub., 129 F. Supp. at 319. Rather, courts “follow 

a two-step inquiry that asks (1) whether the FTC has shown a likelihood of ultimate success on 

the merits in the administrative proceeding, and (2) whether the equities weigh in favor of an 

injunction.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *7. In weighing the equities under § 13(b), the interests 

of private parties carry “little weight” so as not to “undermine section 13(b)’s purpose of 

protecting the public-at-large, rather than individual private competitors.” FTC v. Univ. Health, 

 
26 PX1737 (Tapestry) at 004; PX1175 (Tapestry) at 004. 
27 PX8110 (Tapestry) at 046. 
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Inc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1225 (11th Cir. 1991) (internal quotation marks omitted). Preliminary 

injunctions under § 13(b) “are meant to be readily available to preserve the status quo.” FTC v. 

Whole Foods Mkt., Inc., 548 F.3d 1028, 1036 (D.C. Cir. 2008).  

I. The FTC Is Likely to Succeed in the Administrative Proceeding. 

Under Section 13(b), the FTC satisfies its burden of showing a likelihood of success on 

the merits if it “raise[s] serious questions about the antitrust merits that warrant thorough 

investigation in the first instance by the FTC.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *9; accord FTC v. 

Lancaster Colony Corp., 434 F. Supp. 1088, 1090 (S.D.N.Y. 1977) (“the FTC meets its burden 

on the ‘likelihood of success’ issue if it shows preliminarily, by affidavits or other proof, that it 

has a fair and tenable chance of ultimate success on the merits.”). The district court “must 

exercise its independent judgment to determine” if the FTC has cleared that hurdle, but it “may 

not require the FTC to prove the merits of its case or to establish a violation of the Clayton Act. 

That inquiry is reserved for the administrative proceeding.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *9. 

“Courts assess section 7 claims challenging horizontal mergers under a burden-shifting 

framework.” Id. at *10. In the merits proceeding—i.e., the administrative proceeding—the 

plaintiff first “must make out a prima facie case that the merger is anticompetitive.” Id. “If it 

does so, the burden shifts to the defendant to produce evidence rebutting that prima facie case.” 

Id. “[T]he more compelling the prima facie case, the more evidence the defendant must present 

to rebut it successfully.” FTC v. H.J. Heinz Co., 246 F.3d 708, 725 (D.C. Cir. 2001). If the 

defendant succeeds, “the burden of production shifts back to the Government and merges with 

the ultimate burden of persuasion, which is incumbent on the Government at all times.” IQVIA, 

2024 WL 81232, at *10 (quoting FTC v. Penn State Hershey Med. Ctr., 838 F.3d 327, 337 (3d 

Cir. 2016)).  

Under Section 13(b), this Court’s task is simply to determine the FTC’s likelihood of 
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success under this burden-shifting framework, and “at this preliminary phase [the FTC] just has 

to raise substantial doubts about a transaction.” Whole Foods Mkt., 548 F.3d at 1036. Because 

“the scope of the Section 13(b) inquiry is necessarily limited and narrow,” IQVIA, 2024 WL 

81232, at *9 (quoting FTC v. Meta Platforms, Inc., No. 22 Civ. 04325 (EJD), 2022 WL 

16637996, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 2, 2022)), the Court need not “resolve the conflicts in the 

evidence, compare concentration ratios and effects on competition in other cases, or undertake an 

extensive analysis of the antitrust issues.” FTC v. Warner Commc’ns Inc., 742 F.2d 1156, 1164 

(9th Cir. 1984) (citing Lancaster Colony, 434 F. Supp. at 1094, 1096); see also IQVIA, 2024 WL 

81232, at *9. “[D]oubts are to be resolved against the transaction.” FTC v. Elders Grain, Inc., 

868 F.2d 901, 906 (7th Cir. 1989). 

Here, the FTC is likely to succeed at the administrative hearing in proving that the effect 

of the Proposed Acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition or to tend to create a 

monopoly in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act. Although the standard at this preliminary 

stage requires only that the FTC raise “serious questions about the antitrust merits,” the evidence 

indicates that the Proposed Acquisition is in fact likely to lessen competition on two separate 

bases. First, it will consolidate three of the largest “accessible luxury” handbag brands in the 

United States—including the top two (Coach and Michael Kors) by far—leading to undue 

concentration and a presumption of illegality. See United States v. Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. 

321, 363 (1963); 2023 U.S. Dep’t of Justice and FTC Merger Guidelines (hereinafter, the 

“Merger Guidelines”) at § 2.1.28 Second, independent of any market-concentration analysis, it 

 
28 The Merger Guidelines outline the principal analytical techniques, practices, and enforcement 
policy to be applied with respect to mergers and acquisitions under the antitrust laws. The 
Merger Guidelines apply in FTC administrative proceedings and are persuasive authority in 
federal court. E.g., IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *25, n.19.  
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will eliminate fierce competition between Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors. FTC v. Sysco 

Corp., 113 F. Supp. 3d 1, 61 (D.D.C. 2015) (“a merger that eliminates head-to-head competition 

between close competitors can result in a substantial lessening of competition”); accord IQVIA, 

2024 WL 81323, at *40; Merger Guidelines at § 2.2 (“an analysis of the existing competition 

between the merging firms can demonstrate that a merger threatens competitive harm 

independent from an analysis of market shares”). The Proposed Acquisition also builds on 

Tapestry’s decade-long pattern and strategy of serial acquisitions. See Credit Bureau Reps., Inc. 

v. Retail Credit Co., 358 F. Supp. 780, 794 (S.D. Tex. 1971); Merger Guidelines at § 2.8.29 

A. The Proposed Acquisition Is Presumptively Unlawful Because It Significantly 
Increases Market Concentration. 

The FTC can meet its prima facie burden by showing that the Proposed Acquisition is 

presumptively unlawful because it will lead to undue concentration in a relevant market. IQVIA, 

2024 WL 81232, at *37 (“The high post-merger levels of market concentration alone would be 

sufficient for the FTC to state a prima facie case.”); see also Merger Guidelines at § 2.1. Under 

Supreme Court precedent, “a merger which produces a firm controlling an undue percentage 

share of the relevant market, and results in a significant increase in the concentration of firms in 

that market is so inherently likely to lessen competition substantially that it must be enjoined in 

the absence of evidence clearly showing that the merger is not likely to have such 

anticompetitive effects.” Phila. Nat’l Bank, 374 U.S. at 363. Here, the Proposed Acquisition 

easily satisfies the thresholds for a presumption of illegality, leading to a combined market share 

of well over 50 percent in the sale of “accessible luxury” handbags in the United States. 

 

 
29 PX0010 ( ) at 107; PX1152 (Tapestry) at 001; 
PX1737 (Tapestry) at 004; PX1175 (Tapestry) at 004; PX8110 (Tapestry) at 046. 
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1. “Accessible Luxury” Handbags in the United States Is a Relevant Market. 

“Market definition has two components: the relevant product market and the relevant 

geographic market.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *11. With the Clayton Act, Congress prescribed 

a pragmatic, factual approach and the government is not required to define a market by “metes 

and bounds.” United States v. Pabst Brewing Co., 384 U.S. 546, 549 (1966). Commercial 

realities reflecting competition between the merging parties can inform market definition. See 

FTC v. Staples, Inc., 190 F. Supp. 3d 100, 124 (D.D.C. 2016); Merger Guidelines § 4.3 (“Direct 

evidence of substantial competition between the merging parties can demonstrate that a relevant 

market exists in which the merger may substantially lessen competition and can be sufficient to 

identify the line of commerce and section of the country affected by a merger, even if the metes 

and bounds of the market are only broadly characterized.”). 

“The outer boundaries of a product market are determined by the reasonable 

interchangeability of use or the cross-elasticity of demand between the product itself and 

substitutes for it.” United States v. Brown Shoe Co., 370 U.S. 294, 325 (1962). “In evaluating 

reasonable interchangeability, ‘the mere fact that a firm may be termed a competitor in the 

overall marketplace does not necessarily require that it be included in the relevant product 

market for antitrust purposes.’” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *24 (quoting Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d 

at 26). Indeed, as the Supreme Court has recognized, within a broader market, “well-defined 

submarkets may exist which, in themselves, constitute product markets for antitrust purposes.” 

Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325; see also United States v. Alum. Co. of Am., 377 U.S. 271, 275 

(1964) (while aluminum and insulated copper conductors could be analyzed as a “single product 

market” that “does not preclude their division for purposes of [Section 7] into separate 

submarkets”). “[T]he viability of such additional markets does not render the one identified by 

the government unusable.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *24 (quoting United States v. 
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Bertelsmann SE & Co., 646 F. Supp. 3d 1, 28 (D.D.C. 2022)). 

At the Section 13(b) stage, “it is ‘not necessary at this point’ for the FTC to prove the 

existence of the [relevant] market.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *24 (quoting Whole Foods, 548 

F.3d at 1041 (opinion of Brown, J.)) (emphasis in original). Moreover, the Court need not adopt 

the FTC’s proposed market definition to find a merger violates the antitrust laws. United States 

v. Mfrs. Hanover Trust Co., 240 F. Supp. 867, 923, 955 (S.D.N.Y. 1965) (rejecting proposed 

market definition yet permanently enjoining merger because “elimination of substantial 

competition previously existing between the parties . . . establishes a reasonable probability of a 

substantial lessening of competition”); Whole Foods, 548 F.3d at 1036 n.1 (“a merger between 

two close competitors can sometimes raise antitrust concerns due to unilateral effects in highly 

differentiated markets. In such a situation, it might not be necessary to understand the market 

definition to conclude a preliminary injunction should issue”) (citation omitted). 

Here, a relevant market is “accessible luxury” handbags sold in the United States—

although, as explained below, this market is conservative, because, under the hypothetical 

monopolist test, Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors handbags by themselves would constitute 

a relevant antitrust market. 

a. The Brown Shoe Practical Indicia Demonstrate That “Accessible Luxury” 
Handbags Is a Relevant Product Market. 

In assessing relevant product markets, the Supreme Court has identified multiple 

“practical indicia,” including “industry or public recognition of the [relevant market] as a 

separate economic entity, the product’s peculiar characteristics and uses, unique production 

facilities, distinct customers, distinct prices, sensitivity to price changes, and specialized 

vendors.” Brown Shoe, 370 U.S. at 325. “All the factors need not be satisfied for the Court to 

conclude that the FTC has identified a relevant market.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *13. Rather, 
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monopolist of products within a candidate market could profitability impose a small but 

significant and non-transitory increase in price or other worsening of terms on at least one 

product in the set. Id. If the monopolist could do so, “then a relevant product market exists for 

antitrust purposes.” Id. 

As discussed in the expert report of Dr. Loren K. Smith, the market for “accessible 

luxury” handbags in the United States satisfies the hypothetical monopolist test.80 To conduct 

the HMT, Dr. Smith first identified a candidate market comprised of brands identified as 

“accessible luxury”  

81 Dr. Smith then conducted an aggregate diversion 

analysis, a common tool in market definition.82 See Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 34-35 (describing 

aggregate diversion analysis). As Dr. Smith explained, “If the aggregate diversion is above a 

given threshold defined by a hypothetical price increase and the price-cost margins, then the 

candidate market is determined to be sufficiently broad to constitute a relevant market.”83 Here, 

Dr. Smith found that estimated aggregate diversion ratios from Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael 

Kors exceed the threshold aggregate diversion ratio “by a substantial amount, indicating that the 

broad candidate set of accessible luxury brands constitutes a relevant market.”84   

In fact, Dr. Smith’s use  was 

conservative for purposes of the HMT.85 An alternative HMT analysis conducted by Dr. Smith86 

shows that a hypothetical monopolist who controlled only Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael 

 
80 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 11 & § III.E. 
81 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶¶ 50 & § III.B.1.b. 
82 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at § III.E. 
83 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 102. 
84 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 105 
85 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 101. 
86 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at § V.B.2.b. 
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Kors brands would find it profitable to increase the price of Michael Kors handbags by  

87 In other words, the Defendants’ accessible luxury handbag brands by 

themselves satisfy the HMT, demonstrating the existence of a relevant product market that is 

limited to Coach, Kate Spade, and Micheal Kors handbags,88 which is consistent with 

Defendants’ ordinary-course documents that show they are closest competitors. See Section I.B.  

2. The Proposed Acquisition Will Lead to Undue Market Concentration. 

Tapestry’s Coach and Capri’s Michael Kors brand are  in the market 

for “accessible luxury” handbags in the United States, followed by 89 

Conservative estimates show that, post-merger, Tapestry and Capri would control  

 of that market,90 leading to significant increases in concentration that exceed the 30 

percent threshold for presumptive illegality under controlling caselaw. See Phila. Nat’l Bank, 

374 U.S. at 364 (“Without attempting to specify the smallest market share which would still be 

considered to threaten undue concentration, we are clear that 30% presents that threat”); see also 

IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *34 (“the 30% threshold remains valid as a matter of law”). 

In addition to market shares, courts and agencies often employ a statistical measure 

known as the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) to assess market concentration. See, e.g., 

IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *34; see also Merger Guidelines at § 2.1. “The HHI is calculated by 

summing the squares of the individual firms’ market shares.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232 at *34 

(quoting Penn State, 838 F.3d at 346). Under the 2023 Merger Guidelines, “Markets with an 

HHI greater than 1,800 are highly concentrated, and a change of more than 100 points is a 

significant increase” that satisfies the structural presumption for illegality. Merger Guidelines at 

 
87 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶¶ 256-257. 
88 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 258. 
89 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶¶ 186, tbl. 7, 193. 
90 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 186, tbl. 7. 
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§ 2.1. Here, the Proposed Acquisition would cause the HHI in the “accessible luxury” handbags 

market to increase by over  to an overall total exceeding 91—  surpassing the 

HHI thresholds for illegality under the Merger Guidelines and existing caselaw. See, e.g., IQVIA, 

2024 WL 81232, at *34, *37 ( ). 

B. The Acquisition Is Unlawful Regardless of Market Concentration Because It 
Will Eliminate Substantial Head-To-Head Competition. 

The FTC can also meet its prima facie burden by demonstrating that the Proposed 

Acquisition will eliminate head-to-head competition between close competitors. Sysco, 113 F. 

Supp. 3d at 61 (collecting cases holding that “a merger that eliminates head-to-head competition 

between close competitors can result in a substantial lessening of competition”); IQVIA, 2024 

WL 81232 at *37 (listing cases); id. at *40 (“It is sufficient to show, as the FTC has, that 

Defendants vigorously compete head-to-head and that this competition would be eliminated by 

the proposed transaction.”). Independent of any market-concentration analysis, elimination of 

significant competition between major competitors may by “‘itself constitute[] a violation of § 1 

of the Sherman Act,’ and, a fortiori, of the Clayton Act.” Mfrs. Hanover Trust Co., 240 F. Supp. 

at 950 (quoting United States v. First Nat’l Bank & Tr. Co. of Lexington, 376 U.S. 665, 671–72 

(1964)); Merger Guidelines § 2.2. When conducting this analysis, “[c]ourts frequently rely on 

ordinary course documents and witness testimony illustrating that two merging parties view each 

other as strong competitors.” IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *37. 

Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael Kors compete closely, and fiercely, in the sale of 

handbags in the United States. Tapestry and Capri recognize these brands are close competitors, 

so much so that Tapestry’s documents show a concern for “cannibalization” between the Coach, 

Kate Spade, and Michael Kors brands post-acquisition and  

 
91 PX6000 (Smith (FTC) Rep.) at ¶ 186, tbl. 7. 
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going to have a choice if we want to be staffed for Holiday!”127 Less than two months later, 

Michael Kors announced plans to raise its minimum wage to $15 per hour.128  

Sustainability. Defendants even compete on sustainability efforts: When Coach launched 

Coach “(Re)Loved,” its handbag recycling program, Michael Kors soon responded with “Pre-

Loved” for customers to consign their used handbags.129 Tapestry took note of its copycat, with 

one executive calling Michael Kors “ankle biters”  

 “Kors is coming for Coach Reloved!,” and another employee observing in response “they do 

know how to, rinse-repeat and repackage to the next level.”130 

* * * 

The FTC meets its prima facie case by showing that the Proposed Acquisition will 

squelch this longstanding, fierce head-to-head competition. Its elimination will likely lead to 

higher prices, fewer discounts and promotions, decreased innovation, and reduced wages.  

C. Defendants Cannot Rebut the FTC’s Prima Facie Case. 

Under the Section 7 burden-shifting framework, once the FTC establishes a prima facie 

case, “the burden shifts to the defendant to produce evidence rebutting that prima facie case.” 

IQVIA, 2024 WL 81232, at *10 (citing Penn State, 838 F.3d at 337). The recognized methods of 

rebutting a prima facie case are unavailable here.  

1. Entry and Expansion Will Not Be Timely, Likely, or Sufficient. 

To meet their burden, Defendants must demonstrate that any entry by new firms, or 

expansion by existing firms, will be “timely, likely, and sufficient in its magnitude, character, 

 
127 PX2299 (Capri) at 001. 
128 PX2119 (Capri) at 001. 
129 PX2070 (Capri) at 041; PX7234 (WWD, Michael Kors Pre-Loved) at 001. 
130 PX1278 (Tapestry) at 001; PX1970 (Tapestry) at 001; PX5048 (Colone (Tapestry) Dep. at 
135:9-136:16 ( ). 
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that divestiture is an inadequate and unsatisfactory remedy in a merger case.”). As such, “no 

court has denied a Section 13(b) motion for a preliminary injunction based on the weight of the 

equities where the FTC has demonstrated a likelihood of success on the merits.” FTC v. Peabody 

Energy Corp., 492 F. Supp. 3d 865, 918 (E.D. Mo. 2020) (citation omitted). 

The equities clearly support entry of a preliminary injunction pending resolution of the 

administrative proceeding. Without preliminary relief, Defendants will be permitted to close the 

Proposed Acquisition and begin integrating the two companies immediately. Id. (Commission 

may face the “daunting and potentially impossible task” of “unscrambling the eggs” if merger 

ultimately deemed unlawful (quoting Sysco, 113 F. Supp. 3d at 87)). The loss from the 

elimination of substantial head-to-head competition between Coach, Kate Spade, and Michael 

Kors will be difficult, if not impossible, to reverse should Defendants consummate the Proposed 

Acquisition. In contrast, Defendants cannot establish harm merely from waiting for the 

administrative process, with a hearing set to begin on September 25, 2024, to play out. There is 

“no reason why, if the merger makes economic sense now, it would not be equally sensible to 

consummate the merger following an FTC adjudication on the merits that finds the merger 

lawful.” Penn State, 838 F.3d at 353. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons described above, the FTC respectfully requests that the Court grant the 

FTC’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.  
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